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To an AppREss of the Hous or Commons, dated 14th April, 1886 ;—For
copies of all the depositions or other evidence submitted in favor of
Half-breeds or Metis sentenced to imprisonment in the Gaol at Regina,
and in the Provincial Penitentiary of Manitoba; and also all deposi-
tions submitted in behalf of André Nault and Abraham Monteur, Metis
prisoners confined at Regina and Battleford.

By Command.
J. A. CHAPLEAU,
Department of the Secretary of State, Seret State.
13th May, 1686, il

THE QUEEN vs. JOSEPH ARCAND, ET 4L,
North-West Tonimriaa,}
wit

X, Alexis André, of Princo Albart, Priest, Saperior of the Catholio Mission of
Carlton, being duly sworn, depose and sa;

T have lived twenty-ive years among the halbroeds in Dakota and Manitoba,
and fifteen years among them i that part of th Suskatchowan whore the late robel:
lion broke out. 1 personally know almost every ome of the half-broeds, and am
thoroughly weil aware of the various ways and means by which Louis Riel secured

the adhesion of these e

st solemnly declare from my own porsonal knowledge that with the excop-
tion of Gaoricl Dumont, Napoléon Neault and Damase Carriére, now deceased, not one
of the other halt-breeds had the least idea or suspicion that there was any probability
or danger of rebellion, until they were =0 completely involved in the ke of Ricl
and he had led thom on until they Were so compromised, that thero was no escupe
for them. On the one side were most glowing; promises of and plenty
for them if they would follow him as their leader ; on the other they were mado to
religiously boliove that they had no mercy to expoct at tho bands of the soldiers,
lice, or from the Government of Canada; if taken prisoners or woundod, they were
told nothing bat death with unpitying tofturo wwaited thom at tho hands of the
soldiers and police, and their wives, daughters and sisters would bo dishonored before
Shelr eyos, their ohildron hacked 10 pioces, and all thelr earthly property utterly

destroyed, aud their whole nution exterminated by tho brutal soldiory. Bt i
thing were wanting 10 oomplete the tarror of thos poor, deluded poopls, it was 8ap-
plied when poratini out the fate of Obaries Nolin, who had been seatensed to death
by il for dosartion, and ordared to bo shot o0 view s o dosurtar, was imprisoned
by the pol o trontment of Charles Nolin by tho authorities gavo great force
i Blel s threats, -t ubove all to & great extent gave an appearance of truth to the
assertion of Riol when h so often named his unfortunate dupes, that there was no
mercy to be expected for them if they wero taken prisoners or surrendered to the

ice or Government,
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It will be remombered thata proclamution was isaed by Major Crozier at m;
suggestion, kuowing that a great many of the half-broeds ware kopt by {orce, and had
been brought by force into camp. The proclamstion of which a copy is herewith
produced offered proteetion t0 all those who were torced to take part in the rebellion,
on their surrendering themselves to the commanding oficer at Carlton or Prince
Albert. Now, on this proclamation, Charles Nolin, whon he made hix cscape, a: oneo
went to Privce Albert with tho proclamation in his pocket, confident ia his loyalty,

i md

and in the promiso given in Her Maj sty's name, applied to tho officer in_coma

for prowetion. He was rewarded for his loyalty and confidence by beingironed and
cast into prison. where he was kept for two months, without any charge or ac.usa-
tion beiug made against him, and without any explanation being given w0 him, asd
was st length liberated without any explupation or excase.

Tins most llegal and ill-jadged proceeding gave fearful weight to Riel's usser-
tions. *“See” oried he,  what you have to expect if you desert as Nofin did, seo
the mercy that will be shown to you, and think of your wives and families, Nolin is
a deserter, be will bo shot if 1 can catch him, and the police have him chained in
‘prison, from which he will be brought out only to bo hanged like a dog, &. Now
you know that death is the cercain portion of any traitor or desorter from our sasred
cause, or of those who attemp to eccapo from our camp whah the livesof thoir frisnds
and families dejend on all being true o our hnly cause.” The poor people were also
terrorized into submission by their cunning lesder pointing ous to them snyone
desorting now in the bour of danger, in the fuce of the enemy, would live a life of
sbame, ubundoved by all honest and brave men, would go down to the grave dis-
honored with the pame of cowsrd, and would leave behind them s memory lnaded
with diegrace, which would be curried on his brow by every ono of his desceniants
1o future geverations.

ierre Parentoau I have kuown since I met him in the Red River Settlement,
now Manitoba, since 1862, He is & man of 72 years of age, and hus eloveu children,
and since 1 first knew him has been & mav of peace, and who was remarkablo for the
good influence he exerted over the people of his race and kindred, who, wheu oo the
plaina in days ow pasted,  leader of s people ho prevented many & blocdy deed
tween the Indian trifes snd half breeds, and always was on the side of peace and
order. This good old man wss misled by tho wily Kiel telling him that the yonnger
men of his race required the soothing and pacifying influence of tho old friend and.
counsellor of their forefathers ; that it was his duty to become a lesder or counsellor
among the people in their peaceful efforts to secure thoir rights. That it was by such
assistance ax his that he depended upon avoiding all approach to violenoe, and w0
succoed in keeping union and peace among the hali-beeed people. This poor old man
was borne on by the sppeal w his heart and conscientionsly did what he thoughs was
righs. He was not in conscience or in fact guilty of any disloyal thought or aotion,
and stands before God and man to-day, aithough 1u a felon’s cell, an honest man. To
keep such an aged und rospociable man 48 this any longor in prizon must bo 1o
strike at the beart ot justico and ronder law a thing of scorn. His houso hat beea
burned down and ail bis horses and some of his cattle are lost or stolen.

Emmanuel Champagne 1 have known since 1861. He was thon o resideat of
Dakota, and was aomng & considorable business st Pombina during tho horrors of 1
Sioux massacre in 1862, snd has a wife and seven children. Champagno saved the
lives of many whito men and women at the risk of his own life and property, and
is gratefully remembered by many of tho white peoplo of Dakota to thi day.
After living in Red River Sottlement and Manitob, respeoted for many yeurs, ho
came to the Saskatchewan about six years ago, and lived at Batoche, whers ho had a
very fine place and a large business. ~ I belicve he was north at the time of the hreak-
ing out ol the rebellion. He was worthat least twenty-five thousand dollars—to-day
ho isa ruined man. When Riol proposed to the old man to join the movement of
the halt-breed rights he promptly refused to do so. Persuasion of all kinds failed to
induce him to go in with Riel. When Riol and his followors eamo to Batooe, Cham-
paguo was agala wlicied 10 fin tho wovement, aad, on positivly refusing to do s,
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threats wore used instead of swoot words, Unloss you consent to becomo & member
of the council your whole property will be pillaged, your ] life will not bo_safe, you
will be t the mercy of those who wish to abuse y u, and by threats and forco the
old man was kept there, but he acted as he always had done, defended thoso who
were in danger. To him Tom McKay owos his liberty, if not his life, and to McKay’s
being at liberty the Government of Canada owes the fact, to a great extent, of the
speedy suppression of the rebellion. I have mo hesitation in declaring that (ham-
pugne, instead of being in prison s a malefactor, ought to be distinguished by tho
ummmm a5 0no who was loyal and true to his Queen and couatry in a time of
trying dangm One thing is certuin—a very nhorb ume longer in prison, and death
will deliver him, as he is sick, old and failini fast. is between sixty and seventy
years o
Muxime Lopine I know well. Ho was a loading man in Manitoba befors he
came to the Suskatchewan, He was in favor of constitutional agitation to secure the
rights of the hali-breeds, but wus positively opposed to violancs of any kind, and it
was oaly by compulsion he was kept umon the Riel people. Ho opposed himsalf to
Riel in every way he could, and prevenied a wreat deal of violence and mischief by
is determination. He was always very moderato and peacoful in his conduct, He
and six children, aud is about fiity years of age.
Piorre Gariépio is an old man of fifty-ive years of age, and has . wifo and soven
ohlidren mnd bae Peanal Kislile nearly on the plaios as a hunter. Ho has a I
family, and is ignorant of the ways of political trioksters and cmhm nginwn Ko
is just ono or two degrees above the Indian, but was u leader among the plain
huoters.  Riel made him believe there woald be no trouble or violence, and when
tho wounded at Duck Lake were about to be Dratally massacrsd by the'Indians it
was this old_man in particular who saved
At T M e Ton o s phat, I e & ma Y DO
very rauch, aod I think unfairly, abused and’ misropresented. I always found him
kind and good, and he always t0ok the part of the wesk and defenceless against Riel,
to his own very great danger and risk. The opinion [ get of him from m; i brother
priosts is most fuvorable, He prevented the burning at Dack Lake and St. Uaurent of
the Catholic churches, ﬂ[lhongh nots Catholic himself, and was imprisoned by Riel
becsuse he oppose very way he coald and wante1 w escape from the rebel
camp. I sincerely bilisvh (et Ysnge was & good, truo and logal man, who was.
placed in most difficult circumstauces, and acted amid dauger und difficulty as few
men would dare to do for the best interests of the country, even st the imminent risk
of his life.
Philip Guriépie, forty-eight years of age, I have known for twenty-five years.
Lo Fine i inc i e r’x!ly y{ars and T large family of six childeons il
tho setilors know this man and réspect him. He is one of the most respwmbla and
peaceable men in the whols country, kind-hearied and gentle as a woman. I am
ioformed that he is accused with having sbused a wouoded man —~Nswett. From
my per-onal and intimate knowledgo of this man's cuaracter and disposition, I do
not hesitate to pronoance this accusation to bo false and unfounded. It is repugnant
to overy feeling of the heart of a man like Gariépio. It is the act of a savage and
brutal énd wolfish nature and disposition. He is quite the contrary—kind, amiuble
and churitable, while his accuser, who is, if 1 am ngh\,vy informed, ono  Levaque, is
totaily unworthy of beliof. He came to tho Saskuichowan poor and miserable, xod.
was troated kindly by Gariépie, whom ho now tries to rui
Joseph Arcard is a poor, harmless kind of ndivid ual, about fifty years of age,
with'a wifs and six chilren living. Ho was planged in misfortans st the time of
the rebellion. He lost two children by death during that time, aod was almost in
despair, He took no part in any fight, and was sent away (o prolect the prisoners
in Ponndmaker's camp, where his conduct was kind aud Coustdbrate,  Tho poor man
is still keenly suffering from the sad loss of his ochildren, and is an object of pity
more than vengeance.
43¢ -13 3
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Alexis Labombarde isa poor, old, almost blind man. Ho has a wifo but no
cbildren. eighty-wo years of age! T five known him for twenty.five yoars pust, T

sent by the Government as & _commission to the Sioux in 1862, during the
‘massacre, ard this old man was my interpreter at the time. 1 found him honest and
xeliablo. ' Ho hus been aoting as un interproter tho groator o1t of his Iify and bo is
now accused of acting in that capacity between Riel aud the Sivux, He did s with-
out any evil intext, and without any ides that ho was doing wrong. 1 know myself
that ho told the Sioux to bo_moderate and mot to kill; this I know from the Sioux
themselves who (old me, Now, to punish this old man for acting as an interpreter
would bo juct about as just as to pusish a telephoce for carrying scund. Ido not
think the Government of Canada will advance their own glory or ihe interests of the
Dommion by going o the cradle to find criminals, o on the verge of the grave to
find victims,

Phulip Garnot T have known for about four or five years, Ho is & very nervous
and timid ereature, with very little courage or decision of character. Ricl ordered
bim ¢o take up arms ; ho refused to do so, and continued keeping bis littlo boarding
Bouse and sttending 0 his busivess. Day after day for four days Riel ordered him to
come aud take part iu the movement, at last Riel ordered him 10 bo dragged to the
camp, where overpowered by terror for hislife and fear of loss of his property, he con-
sented to sct us secrotary, but refused to fight, or o resort to the uso of arms. It
must bo remembered ihitt hiving a gun in one’s haud in Riel's camp was 1o proof of
disloyalty or of being a fightig rebel, May had to carry 3 gun to protect them-
selves or their property irom tho savages who were not at all particular whose pro<

erty they 1cok when tho dcsire possossed them, T have reason to know that Garnot
Was invaiably kind and coneiderate to the prisoners and to all those whom he conld
assist in his peculiar position

Alexander P, Fisber I have known for twenty-five years, part in Manitoba and
in the Suskatchewsn. Ho is au innocent, flighty kind of fellow, who is always ready
and anxious 1o create a luugh. He was the owner of the ferry and jt was all be had
10 support his fumily. Ho was compelied to remain to try and save bis ferry and wire
cable as it was bis all, Ho wes always opposed o the Riel movement, and it was only
abject fear of death that caused him to remain in the camp in addition to the fact that
Bus three litile dsughiers were in the convent school, and ho feared if he escaed
they would suffer for him. T amtold that a great deal of importance is attached to a
paper signed by him ss Governor of the Saskatchewan, or of some other illy joke of
that kind. Surely no ono can be mistsken in seeing that the poor creature was joking.
He is of 50 volatile a disposition that he will doany kind of sily folly to make peoplo
laugh. Again be is I believe accused of signing a declarstion of neutrality. Well, it
may be a cxime 10 do s #nd it mey make a man disloyal, and guilty of high tresson
10doso. The poor baif-brceds aro not very deeply versed in the noble science of
1uw, and they may bo perbaps pardoned for doing that which their pricsts were obliged
10 do under a tugerior force, 1o save their lives and to be able to assist the tardy
sutborities whose peglect hid left them at the mercy of a luvatic or & tyrant. Fisher
Tever took up arms. He bas lost all his property, he is guilty of being obliged o do
the best he could to save his life and that is all his guilt. ~ In all other respects he is
perfectly innocent. He has thrce children whoso mother is dead.

io: 16 Henri it known fo me for twenty-years. The last two or threo years in
Sackatchéwar. He is a very quiet, silnt man. ~Riel used him as a counsel becauso
he never bas anything to sy and it a profoundly ignorant mav, 1 solemnly declare
that £ know of 10 sct of his tht was bad. He did no harm of any kind to anyone,
and was more a cals puw than anything else, He hasa very large and helpless family
of a wife and seven children. One of his sons being a confirmed invalid, God knows
what will becomo of them if ho is kept in prison, they wilt become a charge on the
public. He has lost all his property.

Moise Oucllette I kncw for twenty-five years. He is nota man of much intelli-
gence. He has a very lazgo family of eleven children and his wifo and is their only
support. He assisted Lepine and Ross ; and Ouellette, from the beginning, opposed Risl
4
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in every way possible, and they did all they could to prevent rebellion and any resort
to arms. This may be seen in Riel's prayers, when he prays to God to change Onellette
and othors, Ouclltto was the man who darriod Goreral Midloton's Jatior o Riel
for which he was promised considerations, He is about fifty-five years of age,

e, Doitria souipt aod feafor’ “T Hiys Enbwa 85 g mdn fOP E(reeriy ALl
sinco he came and settled on thé Saskatchewan. He is one of tho most simple, honest
and peaceablo men in the wholo settloment, never mixing in any agitation or trouble.
Lam vory intimately scqueinted with him.” T hazo ofton beon ba guest, and slways
found a welcome at bis_hospitable house. His industry and economy made him a.
Somortable and wel of mao. Fle was, ortantely for tho prisonars in Riels camp,
one of their guards, and T was told by several of them that he was kind and good to
He'ig nbuul wdy yours of age and has s wifo snd ten children, and

man was with his father and js a barmless youth.
T ot s s o and Toablo, and has sullered vory greatly fn health nud property.
The best interests of justice would, [ think, be saistied by sending him home to his

Fapticte Vandal is the near neighbor of Poitras, and T can say the same about
Tim that I do of Poitras. Ho resisted for a long time beforo he could bo forced to
Join Riel, and did 0 only fiom feur and compulsion. He has a large family of & wife

cight children, and is a very poor man, snd is an old man of about fifty years of
age. Bl a1 o Wt Baptaitiut o Fofibed pueitiveRAT S S
was appointed one of the gusrds over the prisoners. and they all agreo that he was
Tecet Bl to them, and gave them aay iitls somfet fn his powes: aloh aa tobegto, B8

‘Baptiste Rooheloas, who is geerally known us OId Man Rocheloss, 18 nestly
seventy years old. Ho wus always a hard working, peaceablo man. Has a famil
of a wife and four childron und was extirely oppoted 1o Ricl's proceodings.  Ho
pefosed to fight or do anything wrong, and was ko tho st two named_placed over
‘the prisoners and compelled, through fosr, o remain in camp. He speaks the Kng-
Tish s little and proved usefal snd & friend to the prisoners. He is # humane and

od old man.
8% Josoph Delorme I knew in Manitobs and daring the thres years thathe has been
in the Saskatchewan, He was always a very respectable, havd working man, very
honest and well thought of. ~He, for & long time, refused to hvo anything to do with
Ricl, snd induced his neighbors to refuse to do the sume. 1t was only by force and
threas that he was oom]mlled to take part with the rebol party. He has boen ve
severcly wounded, is a cripple for life, aud his home aod family utterly ruined. T
ho offended ho bas been very beavily punished, und the bund of justice might, in
mercy, deal lightly with him. Ho has & wifo and four children and has lost every-

ing.

& faxime Dabois 1 have known sioco he was & boy. Ho has a family of teven
childron. Ho was in my sorvice for some time, aul proved hovest, iaithful and
Teliuble, and has been groaly trusted by bis omployors, and alwaya provod very
worthy of baing trusted. This poor old man was induced to surrender himself by
The civioe of Fatber Végroville, sad 6 how & prisonce for-the ressan sbove. Hb M
about thirty-six years of age, and hix wite ix a crippie

Piorre Vavdalo I have kuown for iteen years, T lhas soven chiliran, young,
and unable 10 provide for themselves. He is v f age. poor
man was sick nd unable to do anyhing; beiug useless, Kol sent him of 1o Batilo-
fordalong with the others to proteet Uho prizovers in Poundmuler's camy
noicher had srms nor did anything for which he should suffer the punishment ho e
suflored since he foolshly surrendered himself o the authorities

nder Caideux, or Kitwayo, is a pure Indwn bat has lived with the ha
bresl T Hio Known hics for seventean yoars, 1o 143 huntes and ha  prestdoal
of iuflionco with tho Tndian tribes. ' Ho has 4 very large family of ten ohildren and
heie mother. —of the children aro cripples, and ho is an old man nearly sixty
years of age. o spont the winter huatiog away twohundred miles at Tarkey Lnke,
Tl oaly serivod g 15 e of April whon he was seissd by Riel sad foroed Into

s
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his service. Ho was not present at any battle and rendered very signal servico in
saring the liven of th teamsters when the Indiaps wero about to massacre them,
r takiog them prisonars. Ho bas lost oversthing.

) a8 always s good, honest man. He was a bufflo hunter, ignorant
and oasily led away ; Riol made him belicve anything he wished. Al
Jauoriat e, be It 8 soble tllow, and ftcspable of » seen er nmely astin, He
was prosent above Lopine's Crossing when flat boats were in the river with a large
quantity of arms and o forth belonging to tho Government, and Captain Gagnon,
of the North-West Mounted Police, at Princo Albert, told me eased a large quantity
of riflos_and other property for the Government by diving down in twelve feot of
wator. T beg leavo earnostly to recommend this man to the elemency and merey of
tho court as bo has » largs and helpless mily of 8 i sud e ohildren dapending
on him for support, and refused to run away or escape when told to do so, but went
to wor k 10 make & livtog for his family and was made prisoner while freighting.

Joseph Pilon i# 5 furnier, and has s family of ten children, and is about fifty

oars of age. He lived half s mile from Batoche, h was always an industrious and
Tard working man. When the troublo broke out this Tan was ordersd by Riel to
ccme into camp or ho would force him to come, 8s he had protested against Riel's
movements, and had refused 10 attend any of his meotings, Faod novor contributed
ous ceat towards Riel's support last winter. Pilos, when 'he was threstened by
Riel, came (0 the priests, and cried when telling what was wanted of bim. Riel by
force and threats ag.um bis life compelled him to serve his purpose. Poor man, A
doserves pity rather than punishment.

Frangois axd Patrice Tourond are brothers. I have known them for a long
time. They aro unmarried. They are among the most respectable familics of the
North-West. They wero seven sons and & widowed mother. Theso young men
ere the admiration of all 1ho neighborhood ; they were so quiet and hard working ;
their farm was tho nicest kept in he settlement. - They wero o pposed to Rie iv alf
his, movempate. The svatty Rinl tried evary means (b induoa tho boys o join himy
R ntioth fuocess. | Tiy meza wall oF, Ta's. e flvmy planty cof. casg amel
orses, ad were worth & good deal of money. Riel wopt day after day to the poor

* widow, and with his devilich cunning played on her superstition and credulity. ~ Ho
told Ler of his holy visions, how he suw himself surrounded by seven glorious stars
oi extraordinary brightnest crowning him with glory. These bright stars, ho cried,
are ycur seven glorious sons, who are to achieve the glory of the half-brecd nation,
1d the poor woman, in_ber simple faith of his divine mission, prayed of her fino
young sons 10 ¢o forth and battlo under the banner of heaven. Alas, with what
Terrifio results 7 That once bappy home is now desolate, the wealth produced by
i1 dustey and sobriety is swept away like snow before the wind; the grand young
8ons, their mothar's pride and strength, where are they ? Threo of them, shot 0n the
Beld of batlo,l in hurricd gravos on tho banks of the Sasicatchewan, and another of
8 broken heart at tho sudden shock of the terrible death of his brothers, another
wounded and crippled for life, and two, the two abovo named, prisoners awaiting
Sentenoe t the hands of outraged majesty of the law of thoir couitry. = Ob, spirit of
mercy, enter tho heart of their judgo in pity and compassion, for the poor heart-
roken widow now almeat childless Seal mersitully with thoso poor deladed young
men, #nd in mercy send them homo to consolo the desolste heart of their mother.
It must be remembored to tho oredit of Patrice that when Riel ordercd the prisuners
10 bo givon up to the savages to bo bratally murdered ho eried out: * Riel, theso
prisoners you shall notkill until you kill me first.” ‘I'nese two young men are tho
only support of their mother and two young sisters. They bave lost all their
property.

Inconclusion I would earnestly pray for mercy for theso poor people,
ignorant, innocent, confiding ; they were misled by one who thoroughly knew their

minds »nd their heart. 'They were called on in the name of Gol and of the
holy ssints, by one who declared himself ordained by God to doa great and good
woik, They wero blinded by pretooded visions and messages from the Holy Gnost;
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T people, in ther trusting confidenco they woro led on to desolation, misory and
eats, Over tho grave of the silent dead, rise up tho shrioks of despair of the fran-
tiv iving, to & Gu 1 for consolation and succour sud o majesty of the offeuded laws
ot their country for mercy.
That gallint soldier. Captain H. 8. Moore, said to Bishop Grandin : « Although
I am one of the wfeatest sullerors by this torrible rabollion, and will limp through
lifo on one log, yet L kay from my soul, hang Riel and Dumont, but forgive all the
others. They ‘are innocent of intentional crime, and were misled by that soulless
ruscal Riel. T foryive them from my heart.” This is the syirit iu which I hombly
heg of the court o cousider the sentence of my poor halfhrecd people; show that
their priests. who always tried (o lead them to act s loyal and good subjects, should.
ave some little influence to temper the sword of justice and direct the hand of merey.

A. ANDRE, 0.M.T.

said Territories, this thirteenth

Sworn beforo me at Regins, in the
day of August, A.D. 1885.

Dixes Warsos, Clerk of the Court.
THE QUEEN vs. EMMANUEL CHAMPAGNE.
CaNaDA:
North. West Territories,
To wit:

1, Thomas McKay, of Prince Albert, in the North-Wost Territories, Esquire,
ake oath and say : That I sm well acquainted with Emmanael Champagne, who has
always borne a good character up to the time of the rebollion, and who interposed o
save my lifo, ax 1 havo already deposed in the case of the Queen vs. Louis Riel.

THOMAS McKAY.
Swon before mo at Regina, in
the said Territories, this Tth
day of August, A.D. 1685.
Hy. LreJsoxe, A Justice of the Peace in and for the said Territories.

THE QUEEN vs. IGNACE POITRAS, THE ELDER, BAPTISIE VANDAL,
PHILIP GARIEPIE, PIERRE GARIEPIK, ALEXANDER P. FISHER,
MAXIME LEPINE, MOISE OUELLETTE AND EMMANUEL CHAM-
PAGNE.

Canapa:
North-West Territories,
o Wit :

1, Thomas McKay, of Prince Albert, in the North-West Territories, Esquire,
‘make oath and eay : —

1. 1 have becn for rome time personally with each and overy of the sbove named,
Tguace Paltras, the sider, and. others, &nd have, during s long tims pash’ bosir &
magistrate in avd for the said Territories. i Y

2. From my personal knowledge of the above named parties I have uo hesitation
in saying that they have always enjoyed the reputation of being honest and poace-
ablo inhabitants, and I had ever recognized them as law-abiding snd loyal citizens of
Hor Majesty the Queen at the time of the late rebellion.

THOMAS MoKAY.
Sworn before me at Rogina, in
tho said ‘remwm.fhﬁ'i-"m
day ot August, A.D., 1885.
‘HiLyawp Mrrcuvy, A Justice (f the Peace in and for the suid Territories.
1
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THE QUEEN vs. EMMANUEL CHAMPAGNE, ALEXANDER P. FISHER,
PHILIP GARIEPIE, PIERRE GARIEPIE, PIERRE HENRI, MAXIME
LEPINE, PIGRRE PARENTEAU, MOISE PARE‘ITEAU JOSEPH PILON,
BAPTISTE ROCHELIEU, FRANCIS TOUROND,

BAPTISTE VANDAL, PIERRE VANDAL AND JOSEPH ARLAND

Ounam: )
North-Went Torrtories.

1, Hillyard Mitchell, of Duck Lake, in the North-West Territories, Esquire, make
oath and say:

. 1 have for some time been personally acquainted with each and every of the
above nsmed, Emmanncl Champagne and others, and have for sovaral yoars boon one
of Her Msjesty’s justicos of the peace in and for the said Territorios

personal knowledge of the above named, Bmmanuol Champagno sod
others, T have 1o hositation in stating that they had always been honest and | caccable
inhabitants and law-abiding and loyal subjects of Hor Majesty tho Quoon (o the timo
of the late rebollion.
HILLYARD MITCHELL.
Sworn before me at Regina, in the
orth-West Torritorios, this 7th
day of August, A D. 1885,

Cmas. Noutw, A Justice of the Peace in and for the said Territories.
THE QUEEN vs. ALEXANDER P. FISHER.

(CANADA :
North-West Torritories.
To wit:

1, Hillyard Mitchell, of Dack Lake, in the North-West Territories, merchants
‘malke oath and suy :

1. T have well known Fisher during the Iast nine years, and ho is  faithful,
honest man, aud 1 have never heard him utter a sentument of disloyalty .

2. Ou 0r about 20th day of Maroh last past he informed me he wa s a prisoner
at large of Louis Riol's at Batoche, taking no part in the rebellion, and s sid he would
leave but waated to stay 10 oare for his fumily and proporty, aod to the best of my
knowled:e, ioformation and belief ho was a bitter enemy of the said Riel from the
time the said Riel cume to tho countey on und watil the broaking out of the rabellion,
and never was by his own free will a rebol, and only allowed himself w0 bo used in
tho movement from & natural woakness for absurdity and being laughed at, and nov
from any evil or cruel intention.

+ LYARD MITCHELL.
Sworn before mo at Regina, in the
uid Terattorics, this th day of
August, 18!
Er. LiJEoNE, A Justice of the Peace in and for the said Territorics.

THE QUEEN vs. ALBERT MONKMAN.
CANADA @
North-West l‘erriwriaa,
To wit
‘make oath

O s day of March last past, Louis Riel caused my arrcst and
trial before himsolf and asscciates, and the said Albert Monkman spoko in English
8

L Uhnrles Nohn, of St. Laurent Parish, in the North-West Territories, contrastor,
say:
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10 said Riel very strovgly against tho course he had taken in causing my arrest, and.
gainst avy furthor stops or any trial taking place, and aftorwards, whon Riol and
Gabriol Dimont urged the people to condemn mo to death, said Monkman, both ut

that time, and after such trial, opposed Riol with all his might.

2, Tho said Monkman, when afterwards sont with me and & gaard of twenty
mon 10 ask the English haif-breeds to join tho rebols, did not advise thom t0 go, but,
2o the comteay, advised thow £ reruain sk howmey e e Y ARkictke T4 ot it
Brovent uny aitack upon Fort Carlion and theraby provent bloodshal.

 +'d Monkman was most anxious to éscape at that time, but wished to re-
lu;e pics prisoners first, which o Btatan bk Hnks W0 cF expected to bo sble

4. On the twenty-sixth day of March last past, bofore the Battlo of Duck Lake,
he, the said Monkman, tried to allow the prisoners then at Dack Lake to escape, ad
nearly sucoceded in doing so.

CHAS. NOLIN.

Territorics, _this
August, AD. 1885,
Hy. L JeoN, A Justice of the Peace for the said Territorics.

THE QUEEN vs. ALEXANDER P. FISHER.

Syorn bolore mo at Ragins, in caid
day

Caxapa :
North-West Territories,

J, Charles Nolin, of St. Laurent Parish, in. the North-Wos: Torritorios, con-
traotor, make oath a

"That Alexasdor P Fishor, above montioned, was sent for by Louis Risl om or
about the twenty-first day of March Jast past, who directed four or five armed men to
go and bring him, the said Fisher, to the Council, and the said four or five men
Whose names are not known to mo brought said Fisher by force, to the place where
aid gouncil held it meotings at thatine, from, as [ belive, his own howse.

. The suid Fisher was then wor, and his threo children were at the.
Sistors’ sobool al said St. Lauront, and tho ssd Fisher had a valuublo oublo and forry-
boat at Batoche.

3. On tho twenty-fth day of Marcb, Albert Monkmap, Baptito Boer, \Villiam
Boyer, Georgo Fisker, the younger, and suid Alexander P. Fishor and mya!f, mde
‘a seoret compsct at the house of said Baptiste Boyer, that each and every of us would
escape, and thereafter could not escapo for want of u horse, and for other reasons:
which prevented his eso

4. The said Aloxander P. Fisher was, to my certain and personal knowledge,
l\wlyn opposed 10 the rebellion, aud that every sct dune by him up to that tima
(25th March, *885), in the robellion, was done when forced by Riel to do the same,
and that his rofusal would have endangered his lifo.

CHAS, NOLIN:

Torritories, this 7th
August, AD, 1885,
1. LeJuoss, A Justice of the Peace in and for the said Territorics.

‘THE QUEEN vs. EMMANUEL CHAMPAGNE (NOT A PRISONER).

Sworn beforo mo at Rogioa, in asid
sy of

CaNADA
North-West Terriloriu,

} % Chlrles Noh n, of St. Laurent Parish, in the North-West Territories, coatrastor,
make oath and s
9
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1. That Emmanuel Champagne above named returned to his home at Batoche, in
said Territories, on or about the twenty-first day of March last past, and that during
his absence he had been made a councillor in Riel's provisional government.
¢ directed his name to be erased from the list of said councillors at once on
bewog of same, which was not, however, dono and said to me that he was against
haing anyhing todo with the rebllon, aud tbat his ago should have preventad bis
being forced (o take part i
5. Ho was nct a pictioipant fo the beiilo at Duck [ake, abr in;ihe robliseios,
which, up to that time, had taken plnce, nor had he up to that time taken any part
in n.e lllegll measures of said council.

o resided only about one-half of a milo from the place whero said council
then hold its sittings, and was at homo excopt when sont.for and compelled to go to-
said sittings by Ricl's agents.

CHAS. NOLIN,

Sworn before mo at Regins,
th day of Augus, W

Hy. LeJeusE, a Justice of the Peace in and for said Territories.

THE QUEEN vs, MAXIME LEPINE.
CaxADA.

North- West, Territories,
To wit :

1, Charles Nolm, of 8t. Laurent Parish, in tho North-West Territories, contrac-
tor, make oath and s
+ "3 Whon tho robellion bogan ssid Lepine was off on o freighting trip from Troy
10 Prince Albert, and on the 19th of March last past, by threatening and oppo-
Louis Riel, at the imminent rick of his, the said Lepine's own life, saved nine, =5
afterwards, on the 21st day of March and other days, provented, in the same manner,
the massucro of other persons whom the said Riel had made priconers and wished to.
ke the lives of.
u the night that raid Lepine and myself were sent to demand the surrender
of Fort_Carlton by Major Crozier, said Riel in a spoech incited the peogln saying,
« Now is the time, let us go and take Carlton; let us go and avenge the death of
Goulet (uening the Ganlet wholoxt bis lifen the year 1830, after Unosrrival of the
txoops at Fort Garry), and the said Mexime Lepino and Moise Ouellette (now aswait-
ing sentence for tecason-falony) were tho men who, at the immivent risk of their
own lives, interposed between ihe said Riel and the excitod people, and prevented a
midnight attack on Fort Carlion, which might have remuited in & foarful massacro.
"1 hoard anid Lipino ofton ssy that the rebellion would not have bogua had he
han lt ome.

4. On the Sundsy before the battle of Duck Lake, Riel ordered Lepine to go
with & pirty to tako Licutouant-Governor Dewdney prisoner (it having been
reported 1hat the Governor wus on his way north with Colonel Irvive), and Lepine
positivaly refused 1o go, or o be s party to such an outrage, wheroupon Dumont
a1, « Lwill go and takehim priorer, and If veceseary will wash my hands n bis
bl

5. Two hours before the fight st Duck Lake T hed a very serious conversation
with said Lepine, in the course of which I said to him that from the appearavce of
things I feared that there would bo bloodshed before many hours, and that I was
determined to escape ss L would not upder any ciroumstances bo present at an

sct of blood. Lepine ro m my soul condemn the very thovght of
sany blocd being epilled, s ot solemnly pledged himself to mo that o blood
will be spilled. 1 have confidénce in his promises in that respect, and I believ. it to-
bo my duty, ¢ven at personal risk and dangor, o remain hore sud provent bloodrhed
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should Riel prove false in his pledges to me.” And T thus dopose, and am fully con-
vinced that Lepine was actuated by the humane motive of preventing bloodshod by
remaining in the rebel camp. A

6, When I escaped ho solemuly declared that he would not fight nor countenance
any fighting, nor would he ever take up arms.
CHAS. NOLIN.

Sworn before me at Regina in the said
Territories, this Tth day of August,
.D. 1885.

Hy LeJzue, a Justice of the Peace in and for the North-West Territories.
THE QUEEN vs. JOSEPH ARCAND ET AL. (RELEASED).

CANADA :
North West Territories.
To wit

Charles Nolin, of the Parish of St. Lsurent, District of Saskatchewsn, in the-

North-West Territories, being duly sworn, doth depose and say :

opportunity of being thoroughly scqbaintod with most of the persons
connected with the late rebellion, having been detained by forco aud threats within
the rebol. camp up to the 20th day of March last, when 1 saccoeded in melking my
escape from the camp.

2. I knew Louis Riel, the leader and promoter of the rebeliion. He is a-man
who worked a most worderful influence over the uncducated, credulous and ig
half-breed population, so much so, that ho did successfully lead them astray, sgainst
the remousirances and advice of their priests, who have always been looked up to by
them us their trus friends, protectors and guides, in all their concerns from the cradle
to the grave.

3.1 was myself by force and threats detained in the rebel camp, and T know the
means used 0 compel others t0 come there and o remain against their will and
judgment, wheu it is a question of life and death, when from hour to hour onc’s il is
in danger’; if o tries 10 escape, it is very hard to do so; spies and sentries were
posted ut every point, at the dcors of the houses where suspected persons were lodged,
and any attempt o oicape was, by order of Riel, to be treated as a crime, punishable
with death, and avy person found attempting 10 escape Wss 10 bo at once shot down,
by order of Riel.

4. Riel rerorted 1o the most unueual means to secure an overpowering itfluence
over the minds of 1be half-breed people, for instance to excite a feeling of awe in their
mids, ard o doubt with & view to making them believe that he was scting under
Divine inetiuctions.  Early in the beginning of winter, he ordered all persons who
bud ocession to Lutcher cr kill cattle, o save the blood for him, and from the first
duy of Javumy be fed exclusively on blood intead of flech meat, the biood heing
cocked in milk. This conduct made a decp imprestion on_ his spperstitious dupos,
avd when combined with bis continusl preying snd his daily refation of the visions
Lo bad the preceding night, and the visits of saints and the repeated conversations
be bad with the Holy Ghest, the poor half breeds were convinced in their souls that
Riel was God's envoy and that it would be a mortal ein 10 refuse to obey and follow
bim as the chief appointed by God 10 lead them. They had vo guilty kiowledge
that they were hreaking tho lew: Thoy believed that ihey could ot dywrong he
Ged bimtelf ard the Holy Ghost and the Virgin Mary had tent a chosen servant and
Tepresentative to lead and guide them ; no feeling or connection less powerful could
bave induced them 10 spurn the advice avd prayers of the good priests who had
been the guider of themselves and their forefathers for generations.

Bieh bad s book whieh he resd o protendad o xead om0 eonvinge the peo:
Ple of the holy character of his mission. He called it the “ Propheries of St. Bridget,”
# great Dieh Laiut, who he eaid had foretold bundreds of yeas 350 all the thinga
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that were to oceur during the years 1885 and 1886. Ho suid that she foretold that
the wickedness of the world would have become so great that, from the head of Rome
down, the powers of the world would bo destroyed, even the Government of Canada,

the worlds ralers would be destroyed and swallowed up in a general whirlpool of
dostruction. St. Bridget bad foretold that God had appointed a second saviour to

redeem mankind amid the final destruction and restore_peace, morality and pros-,
perity to the nations; that man must be a descendsnt of St. Louis; then ho went on

10 prove that he was descendod from St Louis and that the Holy Ghost and the Vir-

gin Mary had visited him snd told him that he was the chosen man who was

appointed so many hundred years ago, and whose coming was predicted by St

Bridget, the great Irish saint, to redeem mankind, and that his dear brother

halt-breeds were the first he would redeem,

From Riel's acrival in the country he had been uncessingly going among the
half-breed people telling them of the injustice done them by the Government, that
only by meetings and petitions and sgitating, could they ever hope to recover their
rights. He declured himsolf their leader, and that if they would only follow him,
e would secure for thom all their rights and privileges from the Government at
Ottaws without bloodshed.

Rivl to get all the people together has recourse to  russ, He told them that the
must ail assomble at Batoche ou the 18th day of March, for the purpose of going all
together o St, Laureut on the ;9th to colebrate the festival of St. Josoph, who is the
patron saint of the half-breed people, s St. George is to the English, St. Patrick of

nd to make tho occasion the more interest-

ing it was anuounced by Riel that his friend and Secrotary Jackson, who became a
gonvert would be pabicly baptised on St. Joseph's day.  When the people ssmemblod
from all parts as they wero ordered to o at Batoche on the 15th day of March, Riel
aud his triends at once circulated a report that the mounted police were comi
down on the people, and they would all be killed if they did not stand together an
follow bis ispired instructions. Riel further snnounced that God had kindly caused
them o bo assembled togother and had the supplies within their reach, meaning and

inting out the various stores in tho vicinity, and arms in their hands, through him

el, he having told them all to bring their guns with them to the celebration, so
that'they might pay more honor to their patron saint by firing a “fea-de-joic "
mass in his honor, &e. 1 give this outline of his proceedings to show how thoroughly
ho hiud matured his plans to get the people together, and to make them moro blindly
plco thomsolves in bis powoe by gotting thoa £o broak the law,  Riol noxt sentout
armed partics to bring iv all those who hud not already come, and they were ordored
w briug them by force if they did not come voluntarily. When Ricl had once got
tho peoplo 10 comamit thomeelves by pillaging the storas, &c. ho noxt told them that
510 mounted police under Major Crozier wore on the way to slaughter thom all, and
that they must stand together and act under his instructions, and obey him without
question, for God had commissioned him to lead and direct them, promising them that
there would be no bloodshed, which they firmly believed, or I am certain they would
ot have consented to remain and meet the police force.

Once Riel had got the unfortunato halfbreeds into his power ho made them believe
that their only chance for life was to stay with him, s thero would bo no mercy
ehown them by the Government or by the mounted police, and that his intention was
%0 80 conduct matters that without any bloodshed he would secure them the full
recogaition of their rights ; by such promises as these and by resorting to every
Rosible wiek of auguago and action, by protending to bo specially commissioned by

0d and the Virgin Mary and St. John tho Baptist to lead the halfbreed people
through all their difcnltos to  glorious success without shedding any blood, and
without any danger; by kneeling and with his arms spread out like the arms of
oross, bis cyes cast up to hoaven and his voice raised aloud o God in prayer, and
sometimes by throwing himself on the ground shouting to God for diroctions, and to
prowct tho halfbreeds; it was in this way that he kopt the poor, ignorant people
subject to his power und influence. I heard him harangue the poor people often and

12
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say to them, “you know that all power and authority is given to the Holy Fathor
tho Popo of Rome, you well know that the Holy Ghost wells tn th hoart of the
Holy Father, you know that where that Holy horo must bo all power and
auhority. Well, the Holy Ghost left Rome in the Intareat of the ‘poor half-broeds of
America and took up his Tesidenco in the hoart of the greatest living ssint of tho
world, the Holy Bishop Bourget, of Montreal. Now, dear half-brocds, here is » lotter,
ho cried, holding & pupor up toards hoavon, from that grout sain, “Bishop Bor
‘writton {0 me, who am t0 bo the saviour of my people, acting under tho ivflacnce of
tho Holy Ghost, and that saint tolls mo in this loctor. that T havo & mission to. falfly
that grand mission is to liberate the wholo world, but first I have to liberato the half-
breed peoplo whom 1love so much, who are my own flosh and blood, who live in my
heart.

such means s theso ho fscinated a largs number of bis poor sredulous fol:
1owm, and by terrorizing over ard making prisoners of those who, like mysclf, ('mllﬂ

t bo deceived by his pretended divino mission, Riel kept under his autho
e food, bovest and loyal men who Toagiogly, wihol for the masua of b -4
froed from their disagreeablo and false and dangerous position, but who were power-
Joss in bis hands, or, under s influonce, beloving that ho 'was commistidacd by
God  Among those who, to my personal knowledgs, were detained and kept in sub-
jection, either through fascivation and snperstition, or through being kept in hourly
Tear of personal dangor to themselyos and to their wives and childron or fricuds,
wero: Josoph Arcand, Alexandor Cadienx, Bmmanuol Champagne, Josoph Délorme.
Maxim Duboie, Phillip Gariépie, Piorre Garidpio, Pierre Honri, Alexis Labombard,
Moximo Lepine, Albert Moakman, Moio Ouelletie, Moise Parenteau, Pierre Paren-
tean, Davicl Parontoan, Ignace Poitras, Ignace Poitras, jun., Baptiste Rocheloan,
James Short, Franc:s Tourond, Patrice Tourond, Baptisie™ Vandal, Pierre Vandal,
and many others.

To show how unreliable are the reports or minutes of the Council which wero
kept of mectings and proceedings, I may state that Ricl, to plungo his followers,
whether they were willing ones or not, us deeply as possible into danger, 80 us 10
keop them 1n. his power, passed & motion of Goancil Lhat ovory proocading before
the Council should be considered to bo passed unanimously, and that all the names
were 0 be entered as being present at every meeting, whether the persons wero pre-ent.
or not, so thut by this novel meuns he succceded in implicating men who were
innocent, being forced into compliance by him, and made them, as far o5 be could,
responsible for his acts ; for I declare that tho wholo Council was Ricl. The so-called
members of his Conneil were mors cat’s-paws in his hands. Ho ordered and puused
and did whatever he pleased, and threatened death to all who dared to oppose
him. Here I may explain the presence of mames to a very important
document pow in the hands of tho Government. Riol ordered Maxi opine
and myself to go t0 Major Crozier to demand his surrender, handed mo the letter
which ‘was to be given to the Msjor. Lepine and myself woro obliged to go,
we dare not refuse, but what was our astonishment to discover, on examining the
lestr,to ind our own names signed to i slong with others. o saw at once i was
a plan of Riel's t us beyond hopo of j We determined not
%o deliver tho lattar. | gave it to Lepine, who I suppose returned it to Ric for it
s found amonyg the otber papers, no doub placed tharo for tho intonded purpore

compromieing all those whose names were signed to it. I am fully satisfied that
e it bockeat Riars avcatied council was, from the beginning, cooked regularly
to compromise the people, 50 15 to compel them to sink or swim with Riel, and I do
not hesitate to say that they wore left whero they would fall into the hands of tho
Government for tho same purpos

n that same night, when Maxime Lepine and myself were sent to demand the
surrendr of the mousted poice, Ril, In 8 most violent speoo, iited the pople to
take Fort Carlon. _Now,” orled be, s your time, ot us go and revange tho doath
of Goulet ” (meaning Goulet whe lost bis T by being drowned in the Red River,
2t Winaipeg, in trying 1o cseape from the Cacadian voluntoors, who were chising:
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him, soon  afte the arrival of the forco at Fort Garry, in 1870). The whole people
wers vory much incited under his harangue. Maxime Lepino and Moise Onelltte
Totorfored botwoen Risl and the exeitod geople, and, at the imminent dangor of thelr
own lives, provented him from carrying out his object, a midnight attack on the
fort, which might have resulted in & fearful msssacre of innocent and unoffending
people. To show how the balf-breeds were led on by Riel, I declare that up to the
last moment many English half-broeds woro staunch sapporters and followers of Rlel
and it was only their superior education and want of belief in Ricl’s Divine mission
that prevented them from being to-day as much in the power of the law as the French
balEbreeds are. Many English half-broeds snd whites also oncouragod the poor
French balf-breeds up 1o the clminating point and then cautionsly loft thom to thoir
fate, and to tho infamous and blasphemous leadership of Louis Riel, who has planged.
thotn into distraction, despair, starvation an

T declare and dopose that this deposition has been written at my dictation;
that it has been read over to me in English aud French, but it coatains the trath and

1 havo signed.
CHAS. NOLIN.

Sworn to nd acknowlodged bofore mo at Regins,
o Nort-West Territories, this Tih day
of August, A-D. 188
Hr, TaJaux, Hustice o e Pios i and for the North Weat Terriorion

THE QUEEN vs. FRANCIS TOUROND AND PATRIOE TOUROND.

Oaxab,
North-West Torritories.
To wit.
1, Roger Goulot, of Batooh, in theNorth-West Tarritories, farmor, mako osth
and s
1" From the twentioth day of March last past to the thirteonth day ot April
last past, Franois Tourond, above montioned, was not at Batoche in said Territories,
was mother's house, Dear Figh Croék, and nevor went o said Batoche until
the time of "tho battle of Fish
out the twanty-third day of March last past, Louis Riol came to the chareh
shero the peoplo wer assembled and told them :  You will go to Garnot's and get
the prisoncrs und give them over to the Indians to kill them to-night; also tho two
Solomon Venn's, but you will seo that tho Indians do not torture thom.”
Toarond stepped forward and said : * I£ you kill those mon you must
Kill me first” Riel then said in a kind of huff: “ Tout Tourond ” mesning your name
is all ronnd and you will remain all round.”
1 have kown both of said Touronds ovor sevan years and they havo always
been sober, honest men and were of the best men in the North.West
RoGR GOULET.

Sworn beforo mo st Regina, in said
Torritorics, this 7Tth day of
Angust, A.D. 1885,
Cuas. Nouas, J. P., a Justice of the Peace in and for the said Territories.
THE QUEEN v, TMANUEL OHAMPAGNE, ALGXANDGR P. FISHER,
PHILIP GARNOT, PHILIP GARIEPIE, UAXINE LEPINE, ALBGRE
M\NKMAN MOISE OUELLETTE, AND OTHERS.

Nor|h~\\'e;c Tsl:ritoriee. }

,'n. ouii BadtiobT Jackson, of Princo Alrt,in tho North-Wost Tarrtorios,
druggist, make osth and say 7
4
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1. That T was made a prisoner and detained as such, on the eighth day of Apri,
or thereabouts, last past, and was not released from such imprisonmont uuul the
twelfth day of May Jiat part, and T have  perscual knowlndge.of the master hereia
after mentioned and referred to.

2. That Emmanuel Champagne, above named, I frequently saw at Batoche
during that time, but be took 1o part in the doings of the Council while I wasa
prisoner, as far as I could see, and that he was not at the battle of Fish Creck, nor at
any time, as far as [ know, did ho fight in battle.

3. That Alexander P. Fisher, above named, was not armed at uny timo, 5o far
a8 T know, and that he had only taken any part for fear of violence to his children by
the Indians, and on condition that ho should not bo called ‘on to take up arms, and.
should bo left to run his forry as usual.

4. That Philip Garnot informed mo, whon first I saw him alono, that he had boea
compelled st the risk of his life to tako part in the robellion, and then began to act
as socretary and had no intorest in their object.

hat Philip Gariépie, above named, took no active part in the robellion, nsfar
25 T could see; and that after Charles Newitt was brought wounded from the battie
of Duck Luke, but t said Duck Lake and on the rosd to Prince Albert, tho aid
Charles Nowitt stated in my presence that it was an Indisn who struck him at the
snid battlo and not Philip Gariépie; and from my personal knowledge of the character
of the said Philip Gariépie, and his treatmont of all the other prisonors, [ really
believe ho did not strike said Newitt.

6. That Maxime Lepine and Moise Ouelletto opposed Riol in the Council verv
frequently to my personal knowledgo aud were for peace, and they only had i
courage to do 8o of all in the Council; that the oaly ones in the Council that Rie .
could depend on were Gabriel Damont, Damas Oarriére and Napoléon Nault, sud
Riel distrusted and watched evoryone clse. That Riel was chary of everyone. olse,
and they, Riel, Damout, Carridre sud Nault, cntrolle ] and manage] everything.

7. That Albert Monkman was absont af the north when Riel was preparing for
the robollion. Riel frequently thowed dislike for him and distrust of him, soting
Napoléon Nault and an old man named Swaiu to watch Monkmaa. [ hosrd Riel say
that he had sent him (Monkman) o bring up the Eaglish halE breods by force, but that
Monkman had not dove 50, but had proved to be unfaithful to his (Ricls) cause, At
the time of the Fish Crock fignt Riel ordered him to proceed up the river to aitack
Middleton on the west side, but Riel's spies discovered that Monkman had Inid a plaa
10 escape on horseback, when across the river, aud thereafler Monkmon was tried in
the Council and then after mades prisonor f Riel's and chained to the floor of an upper
room in Baptiste Boyer's house, in Batoche; in the room next tho room I was iftcr-
wards confined in, and be was kept until the ninth day of May, when he was transforred
to the cellar with myself and others, whero wo were kept uatil released by tho troops
on the twelith day of May last past, with thevthers and myself,

um satisfied from what T saw, and I verily believe that Riel mado Monk-

man & member of the Council, and gave him the command at Carlton with tho double

urpose of implicating him in the rebellion as ho was an English halt-broed and
inducing the other Bnglish half breeds to join the robels.

9. That Riel had me detained a prisoner i pite of the Council thut I should be.
roleaced, and of this I was informed by Riol himself as woll as English speaking

members of the Council.
THOS. E. JACKSON.

Sworn bofore me at Regina, in the
said Torrifories, this 10th duy
of August, A.D. 1885.
Dixte WarsoN, Olerk of the Court,
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THE QUEEN vs. ALEXANDER P, FISHER AND OTHERS,
'ANADA :
North-West Territories.
To wit:

1, Harry Walters, of Prince Albart, in the North-Wost Territorios, merchant,

make onth and say :
1. That Alexander P, Fisher, above named, was, during the timo I was a pris-
oner of Riol's from the 18th to the 21st day of March last past, a prisoner at large of
id Riol's and iaformod mo that ho only wishod to protect his property there, and I
believe that he tried to prevent some of the m&h from getting any property
stored in his house.
2. During that time ho never carried arms of any kind.

B

H, WALTERS.

said Territories, this 7th
day of August, A.D. 1885.

Justice of the Peace in and for North-West Territories,

Sworn beforo me at Regina, in}

THE QUEEN vs. JOSEPH ARCAND, ALBERT MONKMAN AND OTHERS.

CanaDA :
North-West Territories,

1T, Baptiste Arcand, of Stobart, in the North-Wost Territories, farmer, make oath

1. That one of the children of Joseph Arcand, above nsmed, died just before the
xebellion 0f 1585, in the said Territorios, and another child was theu at the point of
death and bas sirco died.

2. The last vamed ohild being very ill about the 20th day of March last,
Josty T wont to Lonie Ricl, who had taken said Josoph Areand from  Stobars 10

toche, and told him that Joseph Arcand was not right in his head on account of
the death of his child, and that the other child was very ill, and [ urged said Riel to
lot him go home, and afterwards with myself Joseph Arcand bogged said Riel to
allow him 10 go to his home, but said Riel on both occasions refused 1o let him go.

3. When the Council were chosen said Joseph Arcand boing there present was
chosen, but persistently refused 1o allow his name to bo usel, as far as lay in his
power, and his name was omitted from the Council, and ho at the same i ne was pro-
posed for captain by the eaid Riel, but objected to being such, and he did not become
& captain.

4. Afterwards he succeeded in getting home, and romained home & fow days, when
e was sent for by Ricl, axd two men both armed again took him to Batocho on the
25th_of March lust past, and ho returned homo the same day.

 The worning of ‘the battlo of Duck Lake he went to Duck Lako to get some
cotton fora sbroud for his dead child, and was returning home when (e battle of Dack
Lake wue in progress
o was not at tho battle of Fish Creek, but was on the wost side of the river,
mear Alexander Fisher's house, whero he remained for a week with his family until
a man came from Battleford with complaints that the Indians wero threatening the
priest there and tho half breeds and they wanted help, and he went with others by order
of Riel to Buttleford, from which placo he did not return until after Batoche was
taken by General Mindleton.

%. Suid Josoph hus & wife and six children now living.

8, When I first saw Albert Monkman at Batoche he advised my brothers and
myself strongly to go home and have nothing to do with the rebollion ; e was not
armed himself, s0d | heard him say to Riel 't the imo of the tril of Nolra. and.

16
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Boyar, the ollowing. Curse you, you are after another Scott afir, and you shall
10140 it if Lean help t”
Monkman never incited nor advised the Indians near Duck Lake to take

part i tho roballion, ba, on tho contracy, spoko against thelr doing 80

0. When said Monkman was at Fort Carlton thoroaftor I saw him there and
e ol e privatoly that he intonded to arrange mattors thero so that the prison ©
then conld all escape, but very soon afterwards ho was removed from there, as T
informed, by Riel’s ordors,

his
BAPTISTE -+ AROAND.

Sworn before mo at Rogina, in said Territories, T

this Tth day of August, A.D. 1885, baving

Deen first explained by me to the deponent,

who seemed perfectly to understand the

same, and made his mark thereto in my

prosonce.

Cuuxs, Nowts, Justice of the Peace in and for said Terrtories.

THE QUEEN vs. ALBERT MONKMAN, MAXIME LEPINE AND BAPTISTH
VANDAL AND ALEXANDER P. FISHER AND PHILIP GARNOT.

th—Wen 1;e:{1'mries, }

2h h Sanderson, of Camel River Settlement, in tho North-West Territories
farmer, mako oath and say :
1."The night of the twenty-first day of March last past, when I was arrested and.
‘mado a prisoncr, Albert Monkman came to me evincing a friendly foeling, asked me
my name and where I lived, he then asked mo what I intended to say mim- s Riol,
when I would be brought before him. I snswered that I was determined my
mind fally to Riel, o condemn him snd his actionsstrongly and to el i St th
0 was accused of being the murderer of Scott in_former days, was_not one
who should attempt to plungo the halt-breeds into revolution, which would lead to
disaster and death, Monkman eaid, “ for God’s sako if you value your own life don't
do that, temporize with him rather than irritate him, Which may lead to the loss of
your life, as I know that you stand in very great danger, becauso of the fooling
against tho Camel River settlers generally, and against you in particular.” He
cautioned mo not 1o speal to him or apperfiendly in tho prosenca of Riel,for, sa
bo, 1 am slready suspected by Rie but be sseured that Luwill do overything in
my power for you.” Next when the reloaso of the prisoners, Peter Tomkine, William
ins, McKenna Wooderick, John Mantly and Newitt was under consideration
N s o pleadod for their roleaso before Riel and the council at
Duck Lako; and in consequence of Monkma's advocacy strongly exprossed, and the
strongly exprossed advice of Maxime Lapito and Baptiste' Vandal, who elded
with and supported Monkman o  behalf of the prisoners, it was carried that
the prisoners. should be liborated, but Dumont oppoed ity whereupon Riel
ordered Monkman to saddlo s horse and go to Canton
believe, for the purpose of getting him away, and the wnzeqnonu
was, the prisoners were not released. In consequence of the conduot of Monkman,
Lopine acd Vandal, on bohalf of the prisoners, T feel it  duty 10 etrongly recom-
mend them to the most favorable consideration and mercy of the court.
state that Monkman declared to me, and he appoared o be sincere, e it
do anything in his power o prevent Riel from bringing the Indians into the rising,
a8 ho said if they were brought into it, bloodshed would follow. I beliove that he
31 do all that he conld in that rospoot, but T knew that ho appored 0 bo suspooted
and watched by Riol, and ho was kept mlmuch a8 possible out of the way by being
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sent or ordered off from one place to another, and never appeared to have muck

portunity of making himself heard in the Council. While I was a prisoner, Philis
Y;Pmm ovineed  friondly feoling towards tho other prisouors aud mysel, bringin
o and Batoche. At Batoche wo wero in i

e by bis request of Rie! in our behalf, and we were al well fod and

attended to by him whilo there.

THOMAS SANDERSON.

Bworn before me at Regina, in said
Territories, this Tth day of
August, A. D,
Drxre Wansos, Clerk of the Court.

THE QUEEN s, JOSEPH PILON, FRANCIS TOUROND, PATRICE
TCUROND, ET AL. (NOT PRISONERS).

Caxapa:
North-West Territories,
To wit:

1, Georgo Albert Korr, of Batoche, in North-Wost Territories, morchant, meke

1. That Joseph Pilon, above named, oame to my stors, hear Batochs, sud had
conversation with me in which he expressod bis disspprobation of the rebellion. This
oo on the moruing after tho rabellon bad broken out, and bo stayed away from
Batochs a8 much 1 5

o had two toas, 0n6 of whorm is & married ma, and the both of them ate full

1 men, said married man has & wife and family and has been forced to take part
in the rebeiin.

Ho was kept at Batochoby terror and only stuyed becauso bo wished (0 gt
R e A, aforesaid, and was slmost_overcome by con-
sternation, and the said Joseph Pilon went home as often as he could, und stayed there
ill brought again.

4. That up to the time of the battle of Fish Creck, Francis Tourond, above

, was at home and did not go to Batoche at all after the battle in which,
B . 1 il ey laothar John Ktk whse:hid for Ggyacia il
Touronds’ granary by said Francis Tourond, whero ko and his mother ied us. He
100k us 10 the hose of tho Mclntoshs’ who lived near there.

5, From my own porsonal knowledgo of the character of tho Tourouds), atose
named, I can conscientiously say that they would riover have been connected in any-
way with the rebellion had they not been coerced or misled into it through religious
deception, which I was personally in & position to know, and I do kncw and feel
called npon to state in fairness, was actually the caso with them in the late rebellior
of 1885.

GEO. A. KERR.
Sworn before me at Regina, in said
Territories, ths mh day of
August, A.D. 1
Dxxn: WATSON, Clerk of the Court.

THE QUEEN vs. ALBERT MONKMAN AND OTHERS.
Caxapa :
North-West Ter:itories,
To wit;

, Charles Nowitt, of Prince Albert, in the North-West Territorics, mexchant’s
lrk, make oath and fay :
18
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1. T was wounded and lefton the fied of the battl of Duck Lake, and shortly
gl i bl e e G sorry the battle had
taken place and that T had been wounded, and he protbe Bl i e
my comfort, and afterwards came to me every day. I was in the rebel camp from
the twentyaixth o the thirtioth day of Masch Lass past, ho oflering. mo
assistance.

Ho said, after the battlo, that ho would go to the Council and try to got the other
‘prisoners as well as myself off, and & while afterwards ho returned to me saying that
‘ho had got the consent of the Council to my being let off, and thought he had_suc-
ceeded in getting their consent to letting all the others off, except Lash and Ross,
“whom the other members of the Council would not let off becsuso they wore officars
of the Government ; ho appeared to bo the best of the whole lot while I was there.
Aftor I was taken up stairs at Duck Lako ho came to us and told us (tho prisonors)
%0 keep away from the windows for fear that the Indians would shoot us.

OHARLES NEWITT.
Sworn bofore me at Regina, this
12th day of August, A. D.
1885,

OweN Huaaes, a Justice of the Peace in and for the North-West Territories,
THE QUEEN vs. JOSEPH ARCAND, ALEXANDER CADIEUX AND OTHERS.

Canapa:
North West Torritorios,

3 Robm Jetfemu, of Battleford, in the North-West Territories, farm instructor,
mke ‘oath an
That Aroand and Oadi lioux, above mentioned, were at Battleford daring the
Liter “part of the rebellion for the purpose of standing between the Indians on one
side and the halfbreeds and tesmsters uud other white people on the other, and they
did nothing clso during thelr stay in tho camp.
2. loxander Cadieux, above menuoned alias “lel{wl} -hoe,” smndmg'
at the door of the tent of the scout Fontaine a prisoner about the sixth day of
last past, and keeping the Indians away from the said tent.
. That tho said Arcand and Cadieux, while in said camp, did nothing eriminal
or dmloynl, on the contrary their actions were all on the side of humanity and order.
ROBERT JEFFERSON.
Sworn before me at Regina in said
Territories, this 11th day of
August, A.D. 1885,
Hy, LeJeuxs, a Justice of the Peace in and for the North-West Territories.
THE QUEEN vs, ALEXANDER P. FISHER AND PHILIP GARNOT. |
CANADA :
North-West Torritorios,
To wit:
1, Louis Marion, of Duck Luke, in the North-Wost Territorios, freighter, make
oath and sa
1. That Aloxander P. Fisher, above mentioned, was a prisoner at large, and not
ander arms from oightoonth to twentioth March last past, staying at home, excopt:
when sent for by Louis Riel and brought by force to Batoche, in said Territories,
across the river from his home.
2. That Philip Garnot, above mentioned, had no connection with the rebellion
until the twentieth day of March last  pasy o thoreabout, when ho was brought by,
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ore rom his boarding house o tho church, both at Batooko and in said Torritorios,
ho bogan to act as secretary, taking no personal or individual part in tho doings
of the Council, but meroly acting as & scribo to the Council.
LOUIS MARION.
Sworn before me at Regina, in said
Torritories, this 7th day of
August, A.D. 1
Onanuzs Nowtw, a Justice of the Peace in and for the said Territories.

THE QUEEN vs. ALBERT MONKMAN AND OTHERS,
Caxapa:
North-West Territories,
To wit:
1, Vital Fourmond, of St. Laurent, in the North-West Territorios, priest, make:
oath and say:
1. That said Albert Monkman during the rebellion tried to escape from Batoche
and to desert from the camp of Riel, but was discovered in tho act of doing 50 and was

‘thereafter made & pruouur by the rebels, and was thereafter until the end of the
rebellion a prisoner of Riel'
V. FOURMOND.

Sworn boforo mo at Rogina,in tho
orth-West Territorics, this
th day of August, A.D. 1885,

Cuss. Novry, a Justice of the Prace in and for said Territories.
Caxava:
NorthWest Territories,

,Vm.l Fourmond, ot St. Laurent, Director of Catholic Missions, being duly
swors, doth deposo and

8Thth % m: pocfosdly, sware,of he nprising of tho halfbroads and of the
c.l\uu whlch led thereto, and I am com) yollad leclare that the poor half-breeds
were cosxod and forced into that disastrous rising thmn.gh ordars and insano instiga-
tion of Louis Riel.

m what I gmnllly witnessed and heard from, before, during and after
tho establishment of Riol's so-called Provisional Governmont, whether at St. Lnurent
or at Batoche, the evidence of this my deposition is so certain and manifest, that it
does noc ndnm or sy doubt.

vid ”

1, in his strango and alarming folly, fascinated our poor
lml.fbresds, M ﬂm snake id to fascinate its vmtxm, abusing, for his own ends, the
+ confience that all the half broods roposed in hirs, .confidanco foundod upos hi
influence over their minds through his great and impassioned language, and above all
‘the appearance of his profoand religious foeling and devotion, which he displayed in
the most glaring and hypoeritical manner, which was rondored so convinel
their minds by bis public proclamation of bis ijaries, 4 an fagpired prophet, whih
e foroed upon thelr imaginaton i tho most fnsdions and disbolcal apnix; e he
proolaimed himsel 4 now Mosos, who hd come o delive bis puoplo fro
lace them in a mew land of promise, Where they would enjoy ho mw-e
llbm-by and Happiries aad soon becbme masters of the, world, a5. he Would so0n
march them on Winnipeg by way of Portage la Prairie, and thence to sub-
Jjugate Canada, and afterwards the wholo of the States of the wholo world,
until he, their inspired leader, would bo crownod king of the world, and sit in
tho chair of St. Peter at Romo s tho Pope, in procliming which ho did tho
nimical authority of tho Tyraats of Harops, s and ought o' ba doprived of
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il s tomporal and divine powors and priviloges. - Tho Spirt of Go has lft the
Pope of Rome, and has taken up its abode in tho holy person of that great uunl:
Archbishiop Bourget of Montresl, rom whoss soal the spicit of God hias passediia

‘the soul of your leader Louis Riel, thus, said Riel, I have received my pri et
conveyed to mo in this letter from that saint and bishop, hear tho words, * You have
a grand mission 1o fulfil, you must accomplish it at all points.” Now, cried he to
his poor superstitious listerers, this is & proof of imy commisson from haven, and L
have been confirmod in it throngh the Holy Ghos ap
his abod in my soul and through me is now bogi mng on the great work of modern:
times, that to carry out @ grand and most nocessary reform of the whole world; tov
finish’the complete influence over the poor half-breéds he next after strongly insistod
on bis stored mission,inssted on the gravty and legitimate natars of theie claime
against the Ottay their humble.
Pitions and domands sa the consequent Tiseey 7 i T mhich they wora:
plunged, and out of which he alone, as God’s agent, could Jift them up and

them happy, notwithstanding the power of the Dominion of Canada, and of thoir
other heartloss tyrants, tho Hudson's Bay Company, and notwlthalmdmg tho power
and evil influence of tho priests, who wre traitors to thoir sacred calling and were:
using thei infuence on tho side of tyranny and tho oppression of the poor half-breed.
people.

¥4 Tho Sunday hefore. tho outbroak, Riol affer mass; oauio to/uy’ hoose
spolke t0 mo as follows :— You have turned tho pulpit of trath into one’ of falseh
polities and discord, i dariug to refuss tho Ioly Sacrament 10 all those
talko up arms in defonce of thoir sacred rights.” Another time, at the storo o Woier
& Baker, at Batoche, in & public meeting of the people, sceing that he was lnsing:
ground in consequence of the inflacnce of the religious foeling of the poor people, ha
Jumped up, his yos flming liko tho oyes o a vrilable maaiac, which gave him such
3 striking appoarance that it foribly Improssed the people, ho aried: How
hese poot poogle, whoin gou try o despive and misload a8 to tho teath of my dlvlno
mission, for one moment believé you when thoy have the proof‘ before them
are a traitor to them, and you are unworthy of their confidence? How dare you s
that it is & crime to tako up arms against the tyrant in defonce of their rights ?”
veplied to him: “Yes; I said often before, and I ropeat it here to your face, and in
tho fuce of these poor misguided people whom you are leading to destruction, dospair
and death, it is a crimo to take up arms against the constituted authoritios; it is &
crim {0 raso the standard of reballion.  God proclaims it the duty of all Christisn
eople “to render to Cmsar tho things that are Cwsars, and to God tho thi
od's,”" He, Riel, replied:  Yes, render to God glory, honor and adoration, nm.
the tyrants of the world rendor tha which is duo to them ; sling
authority, which they have usurped, in their teoth ; tumble them down !
power that i what God orders.” Listen", ried h, <t this priest who dares to
Lell you that it is a crimo you are committing, under my direction, in falfilment of
1y dharod mistion, who dares £ oall rebellicn your taking up arms in  saored ouise,
a cause ordained and dircoted by God, the cause of your native land wl oding
and prostrated at the feet of tyrants, tho sacred catse of the rights, the hbernu, the
Tives of yous wives aad ahildesn for ll imo to gomo.
5. 'To impross the poople and keep them within his power, this man, Riel, resorted
o all kinds oftrickery. Oflen have T seen him praying alond, prostrating himself
in prayer and ordering all tho others to do so. Thus he made & doop impression om
his poor ignorant dupes and so convinced “hem of his divine mission That it ‘was
impossiblo (o couvinco them that ho was atickster and would lead thom o dostrac-
tion, ol so playod o their ignorsnco that ho mado thom blievs in bis power
work miraclos; they firmly belioved this. I have heard them say that Riol it
mako 1t thunder and could bure diseaso without medicines. Fiel himself, dsolarod
that he was once the victim of an incurable diseaso of the heart, but that on tho 24t
of May o had curad tho diseaso by his diving powor. o also doslared that should
o be'killed it did not mater, he would e wih’them ageln alive ‘nd &bl would.




49 Victoria. Sessional Papers (No. 45.) A. 1886

prove to them his divine mission, He cried, “ it is the Holy Ghost that speaks, whor
shall dare disbelioveme?”

6. When Riel had completely fascinatod these people, and held thom body and
soul at his will, he next, to complete his object and plunge them into rebellion beyond
ecall, he announced that 500,mounted police were on the way to slaughter them
-men, women and children, to the last one. “Ob, my friends, look at those devils
murdering your whole nation, see your wives and daughters ravished before your
‘streaming eyes, see your wives and children tortured, dishonored, dirembowelled,
<ut in pieces by those savage soldiers, who are paid and kept by tyrants to kill,
slanghter and dishonor the halfbreed mation.” «To arms, to arms, or will you
«crouch and submit ? God tells you to follow me. The Holy Ghost is with you in
my porson; courage, we will conquer.” Oh, my poor people, I could not restrain
them ; they were under the infatuation of this arch actor and trickster till ho got
them committed by the cffusion of blood ; then they wore in his power, and ho u
that power without any feeling of mercy. I heard him say and proclaim, “Death,
death, death, to anyone who tries to desert,” and many of ‘the poor people had guns:
pointed at their hearts, by Riel's orders, bocause ho suspocted thom of wishing to-
getamay, and to complete his terrorism over the poor people he declared it to be his

termination to put me thus, doponent, in the front of the battle.

1 knew Phillip Garuot, I saw him among the peoplo in the robel camp, but I sm
certain he did not take any part with Riel until the 21st or thereabouts. Ispoke tor
him and expostulated with Bim on being among the misguided people. ¢ What can
Ido?” said he, “Iam forced to be here, my life would be taken did I refuseto
appear to act at least, and now I mustdoall I can to save the lives of the poor
rople ‘who are shut up in Battleford, that is what consoles me in this dreadful affair;

may provont the attack or give timely warning o save the lives of the Canadians.”
And T sincerely believe that Garnot was acting under compulsion and in fear of his
own life; also, I know that he was always good and kind 10 the prisoners while they*
‘were in his power or within his reach or succor, and he was always kind and con—
siderate and polite to myself, unlike Dumont, Riel and others, who were throatening,
brutal and insulting towards us.

7. I also declare that during the trouble I had conversations with several of the
persons who were in the rebel camp with Riel, and I found a large number of them.
there against their will, and only remained there because of tho fear of being shot:
down did they try to cscape or dosert, as sentence of death had been proclaimed
;f:im all persons who would try and get away. I wish to particularly mention

imo Lepine, Moise Ouellette, Pierre Parenteat, 8. Emmanuel Champagne, and as
I before mentioned, Philip Garnot, all of whom I firmly believe were kept in
Tebel camp through terror of their own lives and for fear of their families being
‘punished, should they attempt to escape.

8. Alexander Fisher, I can positively say,would have escaped while at St, Laurent,
‘but for the fact that ho had his two littlo daughters in the convent school thero, but
feared the vengeance of Riel should he escape. I saw Fisher from day to day.
He never had arms or did he take any interost or part in Riel's acts or proceedings
excopt when forced to do 50, and I kiew that in simple derision he onco signed a
paper as Lieutenant-Governor of tho North-West Territorios, and told me the next
time ho met me, and I laughed with him at the_joke, for it was nothing else. _Riel
always compelled lukewarm persons to commit thomselves if possible in writing,
Fisher knew this, and in derision and 0 mark his contempt for which ho was com-
‘pelled to siga, wrote himself Licatenant-Governor of tho North-Wost.

9. In conclusion, as an humble and old servant of God, and as one who has been
seventeon years among the half-breeds of this country, who knows their simplicity,
how easily they are led away by designing and cantionless people, such as this man.
Riel, who boing one of themselves, who was looked upon as their born and natural
leader, one who knows well that the poor ignorant half-breeds were encouraged on
from step to m‘; in the late uprising till their false white pretended friends and,
their Eaglish fellow half-breeds left them on ths very verge of rebllion and blood~
22
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shed, in the name of God, T, His most humble servant, in the agony of my aged and
suffering heart, cry aloud to tho judge before whom these poor deluded half-breods:
have o appear for justice, mercy! Ob, earthly judge, in Heaven from whose:
sacred lips the proclamation of mercy as Ho expired on tho cross of salvation was
given o the world—in His name, mercy.

V. FOURMOND.

Sworn and acknowledged before me at Regina,
in the North-West Territories, this Tth day
of August, A.D, 1885.
Gias. Nowis, Justice o the Peace in and.for the North West Teritories.

THE QUEEN vs, MAXIME DUBOIS.

Cawapa:
North-West Territories,
To wit : 8

T, George Ness, of Batoche, in the North-West Territories, contractor, make oaths
and say:

That Maxime Dubois, above named, frequently told me during the robellion that:
e was desirous of escaping and would do so were it not for his wife and family of
ive or six children, and to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, bo took:
 very minor part in the rebellion and would not have dono anything at all had he-
ot been forced to do so on peril of his life.

GEORGE NESS.

Sworn_before me at Regina, in the )

said Territo ios, this 7th day of 4

Angust, A.D, 1885.

Duxte Watso, Clerk of the Conrt.

Canap.
North-West Territories,
To wit:
THE QUEEN vs. MOISE PARENTEAU AND BAPTISTE VANDAL
(RELEASED).
1, George Ness, of Batoche, in the North-West Territorios, farmer, make oath and

say:
7" That Moiss Parentiau, above named, and Baptiste Vandal, above named, were
wery kind 10 the prisoners, on or about thie twenty-first day of March last past, and,
1 bélieve, tock a very minor part in the rebellion and not of their own froo will.
GEORGE NESS.
Bworn_before me st Regina, in
said Territories, the 7th day
1 August, A.D. 165,

Dixie Warsox, Clerk of the Court.
THE QUEEN vs. ALEXANDER P. FISHER.
CaNADA :
North-West Territories,

To wi
1, George Nest, of Patcche, in the North-West Territories, farmer, make oatls
siy:
1. That tho ssid Alexander P. Fisher,on orshout the 21th day of March last

informed me that he was against the rebellion, and had tried to escape, but-
E 10 do o, and that he would not be gnu at all had it not been for his children,.
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2, To the best of my knowlodge, information and baliof, ho did not, of his free
will during the whole rebellion, commit any rebellious or treasonable act, but at the
of his lifo and in the presence of and ander superior force.
GEORGE NESS.
Sworn before mo at Regina, in the said
“Torrioris thia Tth sy of Avguet,

Dixiz Wasow, Olerk of the Court,

THE QUEEN vs, JOSEPH PILON (NOT A PRISONER).

-

1, George Ness, of Bnocho, in the North-West Territories, farmer, make oath
and say: That I have good re: 10 believe and do verily believe that Joseph Pilon,
sbove named, tried to avoid lmng connected with the rebellion of 18¢5 Ky hiding
nd in other divers ways, and that had it not been for his wife and family of elaven
children, would bave succeeded in so doing, and would not bo in prison today.
#aid Pilon resided for_soveral yoars near where ny residence then was, and L had
the best opportunity for arriving at the whole bolio

The said Pilon took a very minor part in said rabelhon, and that on peril of his
Tifo and against his will.

GEORGE NESS.

CANADA :
North-West Territor
To wit:

Sworn before mo at Regina, in
anud Torritories, the Tth day
of August, A.D.

mm WaTso,[Clerk of the Court,

THE QUEE"J rs. JOSEPH ARCAND (RELEASED), ALEXANDRE CADIEUX,
ANUKL CHAMPAGNE (NOT A PRISONER), MAXIME DUBOI
ALEXA\DFR P. FISHER, PHILIP GARIEPIE, ~PIERRE GARIEPIE,
PlFRRh H]WRI MAXIME LEPINE, MOISE OUELLETTE, PIERRE
SNTLAU, MOISE PAREVTbAU RELEASED), IGNACE POLTRAS
(RKLEASH)) IGNACE POITRAS, THE YO! UNGER JOSEPH PIDON
NOT A PKISONER), BAPTISTE ROCHELE U (NOT A ER),
JAMES auoRr 1‘ r‘m TOUROND (NOT A PRIEONER), PATK[Cn
‘TOUKOND (NOT A ), BAPTISTE VANDAL (NOT A PRISONER)
PlhliRF VANDAL ([mLEAahu),IAND OTHERS.

Worth- Wea\, lenlwnen,

L Geoxga Nesu, of Batoche, in the North-West Territorics, Esquire, mako oath

21 have for some time past besn personally scquainted with each and overy of
the above named, Joseph Arcand and others named thereafter, and I have been one
of THor Majety's ’justices of the peaco,in and for tho North'West Territories, for
somo time

2 o enid persons abore named had_cach and overy of them always been
honest and poacesblo inhabitants, and law.sbiding and loyal subjects of Her Majosty
the Queen up to the time of the late rebellion in the said Territories.

“Sworn beforo mo st Regina, in the said

North-West Territories, this Tth day.

of August, A.D, 1885.
GEORGE NESS, _
Drxax Wasson, Clrk of the Court.
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THE QUEEN vs. PHILIP GARIEPIE AND OTHERS.
CANADA
North-West Territories,
To wit:

1, Bleazer Swain, of Batoohe, in the North-West Torritories of Canada, farmer,
make oath and say :

. Thet immedistely after the fight at Duck Lake I arrived upon the gound,
aud thero saw Philip Gariopio and a number of others near to where Cherles Newitt
was thon sitting.

2. Newitt appeared to have boon mounted, and exhibited signs of having been
struck upon the forehead and hand, and a conversation was going on among those
about as to the cause, I heard it stated by soveral of thoso people, who wero half-
broeds and Indians, that the said Newitt had been struck in the manner above men-
tioned by an Indian.

His
s ELEAZER X SWAIN.
Mark.

Sworn before me at Regins, in said Terri-
tories, this 6th day of August, A.D.
1885, after having boon first read and
then' explained to the deponent, who
made his mark direct in my presence.

Huou Ricuannsos, Stipendiary Magistrate for the North- West Territorics.

THE QUEEN vs. -JOSEPH ARCAND, IGNACE POITRAS (THE ELDER
RELEASED), IGNACE POITRAS (THE YOUNGER), PIERRE PARENT-
EAU, MOISE PARENTEAU (RELEASED), JOSEPH PILON (NOT A
PRISONER), BAPTISTE VANDAL (RELEASED), BAPTISTE ROC
LEAU (NOT A PRISONER), PIERI VANDAL (RELEASED), MOISE
OUELLETTE, MAXIME LEPINE, ALBERT MONKMAN, EMMANUEL
CHAMPAGNE, MAXIME DUBOIS, ALEXANDER P.FISHER, PATRICE
TOUROND AND FRANCIS TOUROND, ET AL.

Canapa.
North-West Territories,
To wit:

Wo, Harold Edward Ross, Peter Tomkins, William Tomkins and Thomas East-
wood Jackson, all of Princo Albert District, in the said Territories, severally make,
oath and say

1. That during the time of our imprisonment in the rebel camp at Batoche and
vicinity wo foceived considerato treatment and kindnoss from the above named
defondants, Joseph Arcand aud others, somo of them supplying us with
others of them protecting us as much as in their power lay from attacks of the
Tndians, cautioniog us to keep away from the windows and doors for foar of bei
shot at by Indians and others, and generally exhibited s spirit of kindness
friendly foeling towards us, They also, many of them, stood botweon us and threat-
enod daath a the hands of Louis Riol t the bost of ous information. . We, thorefore;
feel it a duty, as Christian men, to recommend them in turn to the mercy of the
court. Wo espocially recommend Baptiste Vandal, Tgnace Poitras, Joseph Pilon,
Baptisto Rocheloau, Albert Monkuuan, Aloxander P Fishen, Ernanel Champagno
and Pateice Tourond to the mercy of the court for their marked humanity and kind-
ness t0 us while in prison. And this declaration on our part is not & new-born
fealing. - Whilst wo wore prisoners wo mutually detormined, should wo escapo with

our livos, that, should theso men, in turn, bo arrested and imprisoned, and put upon
their izial, that we, in gratitado’for thoir kindnoss, would not il to come. forward
c—3 25
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and givo evidence on their behalf, which we now do, and we earnestly recommend
them to the consideration and meroy of their judge.
LD E. ROSS,

PETER TOMKINGS,
WILLIAM TOMEINS,
THOS. E. JACKSON.
fiworm before me and asknonledged by the)
ponents, Harold Edward
okine, Wl Tomins . Toos, |
Bastwood Jackson, st Regins, in said
Territorios, this 7Tth day of August,
A.D. 1885,

Dixis Wazsox, Glerk of the Court.

THE QUEEN vs. JOSEPH ARCAND, EMMANUEL CHAMPAGNE ALEX.-
DER P, FISHER, PIERRE GARIEPIE, PIEERE HENRI, MAXI]
LI'APINE ALBERT MONKI MAN, MOISE OUELETTE, PIERRE PAREN-
TEAU, JOSEPH PILON, IGNACh POITRAS, THE ELDER, IGNACE POI-
TRAS, YOUN( ER BAPTISTE ROCHEIAEAU FRANCIS TOUROND,
PATB[CE TOUROND, BAPTISTE VANDAL, ET A.

1, John W, Astle
neor, make oath and
T was in the rebel camp from the _twenty-sixth, of March, until the twelith of
May last, after the battlo of Fish Creok. Tho halfbroeds were notified by Louis
Riel that they had better fight now to the last man, 8s no mercy would be shown them
hethor thoy surcenderod or wars taken prisoues, that they would bo ovory man
Bung or shot, by the mounted police, or by the Canadian Government, and it was by
thus torrifying Them that the Rallheuals yore kopt togother,
0 twelfth of May 1 talked to Touls Riel for a long time about tho rebellion
s 1 romnie 10 Bist 1 s8id to him, “God knows you escaped from the conse-
quences of your first reballion through politics.” Ho roplicd that ho had, bat, sxd he,
T have threo chances or means of escape this time ; first, through politics ; ssoondly,
through the papers of the Council. You must know that I have so arranged all the
papers of the Council in such s way that overything will show that the ncl i
everything, and my namo will not appesr as doing anything, and should we arrange
bedou Fou wish, the papers will SF bo found properly ixed o the Counil oham-
s Ay i boi

of Prince Albort, in the North-West Territories, civil engi-

roligi 17} yun
will gm me the greatest chance, s it will show that I wis|
“What will I say to troy geuoral about the Freach half-broeds' %
Riol, “ that is s very socondary consideration; 1 think of ‘ysel first” Again'T said,
“if thero aro any claims of the halfbreeds a Word now might bo of great advant
10 them, s the general will not forget %, report it.” Again he replied, I assure
you their chances are of a very socondary importance, my own safety is of the first
importance.” After this conversation I retarned to General Middleton to try and
ﬁn the troops to cease firing, and then came back to Riel, when I said to him, “ Now,
16 i8 10 timo to loso; call"your Council togethor and 16t us have an undorstanding,
Lovil sddsess them.” ' Riel"said, ‘that, s quito unnooossary, I can do as T wish?
Then I said, “you admit that you sct without any Council,” and he said, “yes, I do
just s 1 ‘wish.” 45 T lofo Rial T sid 1o him, * should T not bo ablo to rofurn_you
ow what o do; come in all of you snd surrendor; if I can I will come back.
The old man Ross and Ouelltto actually did await my return tll they were shot dead,
T know Alexander P. Fisher, ho was in the rebel camp. I always looked upon
him 28 8 kind of 4 soft-headed fellow who had 0 harm In him, ho had no arms wad
id not do any harm t0 anyons. Ko is  kind of small wit, and'would do almost any
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Kind of foolish thing to mske the people laugh. I considered him s harmless nonen-

“Piorro Gn\apﬂa was a kind old follow to tho prisoners: Pierre Henri was about

the sama as the last, Maximo Lopine scomed to bo anxious to end the matter, ho
d\d not mem to me '.0 be heart and soul in it. Albert Monkman did all he could for
the prisos soveral times honed il soolding Monkman for ot bringing in

Scotoh and By Engluh 1 halfbroods s ho had boon ordorsd to do. Moise Ouellotte carsied
a loter o Lonis il from Gonoral Middloton, which lotter wa tho 68uso of Rial's
surrender. I gave the letter to the priest at Batoche. Pierre Parentean was
ordinary man among tho halfbroeds. Ignaco Poitras, sonr., Baptiste Eochaliny'wid
Baptista Vandal wero throo groat friends to tho Cansdian prisonors, and, indeed, had
it not been for these three good old follows we would have almost starve g
a time they took all the care they could of us, and had it not been for them We ‘woul
have been s terrible sight worse off.

two Touronds and Ignaco Poitras, the younger, I kaow little about, and
nover saw them take any active part in the rebolion. Tho other persons named
‘were made prisoners more with & view to the corroboration, if nwosury, evldenu hr
th cortain onriction of Rlel by Goneral Middleton, to my porso ledgo. 1

n to the general & list of the leaders to be detained, whmh hn lost, and some
of tho principal thon are still 8t large.

JOHN W. ASTLEY.

Sworn before mo at Regins, in said
Territories, this 11th day of
August, AD, 1885,
Haxax Doy, Justice of the Peace for the North- West Territories.

THE QUEEN vs. JOSEPH ARCAND, ALEXANDER CADIEUX, AND
OTHERS.

Canapa:
North.West Territories,
To wi

1, Louis Cochin, of Battleford, in the North-Wost Territories, priest, being duly
swors, dopose and say :

1. T was & prisoner in the camp of Poundmaker from sbout the twelfth of April
till sbout the sixteenth of May, or to the time of Riel’s surrender, the news of which
reached us four days later.

Josoph Arcand, who is weil known to me, for the first time smong
those in the camp on tho third of May; it was Sunday, about seven o'clock in the
evening. The said Arcand had, I understood, just arrived with othars from Batoche,
whence thoy had boon sent by Riel to protect the prisoners from the savages.

3. Josoph Arcand was one of themost ardent of the half-breeds in protecting the
prisonrs from being killad, maltreatod oF robbed by the savages ho was always on
the watch o guard the prisoners from dager, aud I was mdebwd to him for his
devoted protection of myself from dangor and aunoyance, I passed neacly half the
timo with him and he never used one solitary expression of isloyalty towards the
Government, nor did he over commit any hostilo act; he ocupied himsolf in attend-
ing to tho safoty of the prisoners, whito and half-broed, in the cam;

4, 1t was Josoph Arcand who was specially activo and sucoossful in saving the
ifo of tho white ‘prisoner,  teamster, who is I boliove at prosent in Regina. Arcand
also protacted & soout namod Fontaine from throstonsd doath . the_haods of the
Assiniboines, that same scout Fontaine who so ungratefully accused his protectors on
his roturn to Battleford, “Thia follow Fontaing, o my personal knowlodg, i totally
unworthy of belief, ho is well known as a gaol bird, and in_fact was liberated from

1 to bocomo # soont. Josaph Arcand had loft Poundmaker's camp throe days
‘we heard of the battle at Batoche.
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5. Pierre Vandal came to Poundmaker’s camp at the same time with Arcand.
This young fellow seemed to be a follower of the others simply through curiosity as
 cornpanion as some of tho other half broods, and when he mounted guard with the
others it was for the sole sud only purpose of proteoting the prisoners from the
savages, who were only preventod from falling upon the prisoners by the most
devoted and_sctive efforts of the half-breed guards. I often passed hours with this

g man Vandal and conversed with him and spoke to him in condemnation of
el and in favor of tho Government, to which he assent ed and often condomn
tho robellion, Gariepie all the time ho was in the camp positively did nothing but
‘protect the enemy o the best of his power, the prisoners white and hal¢-broods, from
the savages, to which he devoted his wholo attention, his conduct was immensely

iseworthy and kind. T am bound in conscionce and gratitude to accord to him my
st thanks and strong recommendation.

Aloxander Cadious, alias  Kitty-way-hoe,” csmo to the camp with the others
above mentioned, He is & fino savage, but has lived among the half-breeds, and is
vory ignorant, He has a great deal of influence with the savages, and throngh that
influence he was enabled to save the lives of the teamster prisoners who were on the
point of being killed by the Indians, who wero very furious and determined. As
no whose lifo was saved by the combined exertions and devotion of theso poor men,
when life was every moment in danger, I cannot sufficiently express my thanks o
God and my gratitade to these poor men, and pray at the hands of the judge who is
1o pass the sontence of the law upon them, & merciful view of any fault they may
have ignorantly committed, in view of the fact that they risked their own lives to
savo tho lives of Hor Majosty's subjects—men, women and children—from the fary

of the savagos.
23 L. COCHIN.
Sworn to and scknowledged before mo
at Regina, in the North-West Ter-
ritories aforosaid, this 13th day of
August, A.D, 1885,
Dixiz Wansox, Clerk of the Court,
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